Clinical diagnoses and characteristics of women entering the Reykjavik	ζ
Emergency Departments during the economic collapse in 2008	

Rebekka Sigrún Lynch

Final project for a Bachelors degree in Medicine
University of Iceland
School of Health Sciences
Faculty of Medicine

# Clinical diagnoses and characteristics of women entering the Reykjavik Emergency Departments during the economic collapse in 2008

Rebekka Sigrún Lynch

Final project for a Bachelors degree in Medicine

Advisors: Guðmundur Þorgeirsson, Gunnar Tómasson, Unnur Valdimarsdottir

Faculty of Medicine
University of Iceland
June 2013

# **Table of Contents**

A	bstract	t	. 3
A	bbrevi	ations	. 4
1	Bac	kground	. 5
	1.1	Risk factors	. 6
	1.1.	1 Modifiable risk factors	.7
	1.1.	Non-modifiable risk factors	. 8
	1.2	Stressors	.9
	1.2.	Possible mechanisms	10
	1.2.	2 Grief	11
	1.2.	3 Anxiety	11
	1.2.	4 Emotional stress	11
	1.3	The economic crisis in Iceland	12
	1.4	Aim	13
	1.4.	1 Specific aims:	13
2	Me	thods	14
	2.1	Study design, setting and population	14
	2.2	Exposure definition	15
	2.3	Ascertainment of outcomes	15
	2.4	Data analysis	16
	2.5	Ethics approval	17
3	Res	ults	18
	3.1	Baseline characteristics	18
	3.2	Discharge diagnosis	19
	3.3	Presenting symptoms	20
	3.4	Clinical tests	21

ECG results	21
First blood analysis	22
Second blood analysis	23
scussion	24
Comparison with earlier studies	24
Possible mechanisms	25
Strengths and limitations	26
Conclusions and implications	26
rledgements	28
nces	29
	First blood analysis  Second blood analysis  Scussion  Comparison with earlier studies  Possible mechanisms  Strengths and limitations  Conclusions and implications

#### Abstract

Rebekka Sigrún Lynch (1), Guðmundur Þorgeirsson (1), Gunnar Tómasson (1), Unnur Valdimarsdottir (1,2)

(1) Læknadeild, Háskóla Íslands, (2) Department of Epidemiology, Harvard School of Public Health. **Background:** The Prime Minister's speech to the Icelandic nation on October 6<sup>th</sup> 2008

dramatically signalled the start of a swift economic collapse in Iceland. An earlier study reported a 40% increase in women attending to the Cardiac Emergency Department (ED) of Landspitali University Hospital in the following week. This spike is now being investigated further to determine underlying clinical characteristics and diagnoses of these women.

**Methods:** Using electronic medical records at Landspitali, we conducted a retrospective study of all women attending the EDs with an admittance diagnosis of non-cerebrovascular cardiovascular disease and excluding diseases of veins, lymphatic vessels and lymph nodes (ICD 10: I00-I99; I60-69 and I80-89 excluded). The index week started after 4:00pm on October 6<sup>th</sup> 2008 (week 41) and a comparison period consisted of two weeks before October 6<sup>th</sup> (weeks 39 and 40). Extensive data was collected including ICD 10 discharge diagnosis, results from blood analysis, ECG results and cardiac catheterization. Information regarding admittance characteristics including risk factors for CVD and length of stay was recorded.

Results: In the week of the economic crisis 25 women were admitted with cardiovascular diagnosis compared to 34 in the preceding two weeks, representing an increase of approximately 47%. Overall, we did not observe differences in admittance characteristics although women attending in the week of the collapse appeared more likely to have arrived with ambulance (p=0.01) and less likely to have reported lipid abnormalities (p=0.05) or a family history of heart disease (p=0.09). Attendees in the collapse week were more likely to be discharged with a diagnosis of ischemic heart disease (ICD 10; I20-I25) (p=0.07). This is, primarily, explained by an increase in cases of angina pectoris (ICD 10 I20) (p=0.03). Blood analysis and ECG results revealed no significant differences when ICD 10 I20-I25 diagnoses were compared. The rate of cardiac catheterization was lower among women in the collapse week (50%) compared to preceding weeks (100%).

**Conclusions:** Our data confirm increased attendance of women to Reykjavik emergency departments for cardiovascular disease in the week of the economic collapse, particularly due to angina pectoris. These women appeared to some extent to have a more subtle risk profile while small numbers and incompleteness of the data hamper definite conclusion.

# **Abbreviations**

ApoA1 Apolipoprotein A1

ApoB Apolipoprotein B

BMI Body Mass Index

CVD Cardiovascular Disease

ECG Electrocardiogram

ED Emergency Departments

GDP Gross Domestic Product

HDL High Density Lipoprotein

ICD-10 International Classification of Diseases 10<sup>th</sup> Revision

IMF International Monetary Fund

LDL Low Density Lipoprotein

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

SD Standard Deviation

TIMI Thrombolysis In Myocardial Infarction

VLDL Very-Low-Density Lipoprotein

WHO World Health Organisation

.

# 1 Background

Ischemic heart disease is the leading cause of death in the world today. In 2010, the mortality rate for ischemic heart disease among Icelandic women was 55 per 100,000 after age standardisation for women, and 118 per 100,000 for Icelandic men. Ischemic heart disease is thus a substantial portion of the 507 deaths per 100,000 in Iceland during the same year. This is despite the fact that Iceland is a low risk country, as defined by the European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease, having cardiovascular disease mortality of less than 220/100,000.

Ischemic heart disease is characterized by an imbalance of blood supply and myocardial oxygen demand, typically due to an obstruction that hampers blood flow. The clinical syndromes of ischemic heart disease are angina pectoris (which can be either stable or unstable), acute myocardial infarction, chronic ischemic heart disease and sudden cardiac death. Acute coronary syndrome is often used for unstable angina, acute myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death.<sup>4</sup>

Atherosclerosis is the result of the process atherogenesis, where atherosclerotic plaques form in the arteries. Many of the risk factors for cardiovascular diseases accelerate this process. Plaque forms in the intima layer by accumulation of lipoproteins and cholesterol esters, lipid droplets and macrophages.<sup>5</sup> Cholesterol is transported via lipoproteins, predominantly low density liproteins (LDL), through the bloodstream and can be taken into the intimal cells, forming an integral part of plaque. <sup>6</sup> Apolipoprotein B (ApoB) is the primary protein moiety associated with very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and low density lipoprotein<sup>7</sup>, making it highly atherogenic. Apoliprotein A1 (ApoA1) is a component of high density lipoproteins (HDL).<sup>8</sup> In advanced plaques a lipid core has formed.<sup>9</sup> Plaque is staged into 6 different types. The earliest stages occur early in life and later develop into advanced lesions (IV-VI).<sup>5</sup> These advanced lesions can rupture and cause most acute coronary syndromes.<sup>10</sup> Phase III lesions can also rupture, causing angina pectoris, but are more frequently asymptomatic.<sup>11</sup> When plaque ruptures there may be hemorrhage, luminal thrombosis or vasospasm, that contribute to sudden flow obstruction and give rise to the symptoms of ischemic heart disease.<sup>10</sup>

#### 1.1 Risk factors

It is well established that cardiovascular disease is sensitive to certain risk factors. These can be used to determine which individuals are likely to succumb to the disease and to target for preventative measures. There have been various attempts to create a risk profile that can categorize individuals and determine their risk levels.

The Framingham heart study is a cohort study with 5127 individuals from the town of Framingham, Massachusetts. Its purpose is to study the epidemiology of coronary heart disease. 12 The research plan and aims were outlined in 1951 and include biennial examination. 13 Researchers of the Framingham heart study created a risk profile using a 12 vear follow up. 14 It has now been expanded to a 30 year prediction of cardiovascular disease. 15 A European scoring system has also been created using twelve cohorts. It is called the SCORE project and is a scoring system for fatal cardiovascular disease. 16 Framingham heart study and the SCORE project both use gender, age, smoking, cholesterol levels (total and HDL level) and systolic blood pressure. The Framingham study also requires knowledge of antihypertensive treatment and whether the individual has diabetes mellitus. A third risk profile has been created with the PROCAM study that may have greater predictive value. It includes family history, triglycerides level and LDL cholesterol. 17 There is also an Icelandic risk score called the Icelandic Heart Association's risk calculator, and is based on data collected over forty years in Icelandic cohorts. An online version is available where the public can calculate their ten year risk of heart disease. The Icelandic Heart Association has also used their data to modify the SCORE project chart to better reflect the risk for the Icelandic population.<sup>18</sup>

These risk factors are considered traditional risk factors but novel risk factors are emerging. The INTERHEART study investigated nine risk factors for an acute myocardial infarction. They found that all together, they explained 90% of the population attributable risk in men, and 94% in women. These nine risk factors are smoking, raised ApoB/ApoA1 ratio, history of hypertension, diabetes, abdominal obesity, psychosocial factors, daily consumption of fruits and vegetables, regular alcohol consumption, and regular physical activity. There were four psychosocial factors used in this study; financial stress, stress at home and at work, and major life events in the last year. A predetermined list of major life events was provided and the respondent was asked which had occurred in the past year.

Established risk factors are generally divided into two categories, modifiable and non-modifiable. The modifiable risk factors discussed here are high cholesterol levels, elevated

blood pressure, diabetes, smoking, diet, and lifestyle. On the other hand, the non-modifiable risk factors discussed here are family history, age and gender.

#### 1.1.1 Modifiable risk factors

High levels of cholesterol have long been thought to promote the formation of atherosclerotic plaques. This was first demonstrated in animal models such as dogs<sup>21</sup> at the turn of the century. High serum cholesterol was quickly identified as a risk factor for human cardiovascular disease in the Framingham study.<sup>22</sup> The field quickly diversified to account for the different lipoproteins that affect cardiovascular disease. That levels of high density lipoproteins are lowered in ischemic heart disease<sup>23</sup> demonstrates that this is a complicated system that needs to be properly balanced. The INTERHEART study, published in 2008, investigated total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, ApoA1 and ApoB and found that abnormal values were all risk factors for myocardial infarction with the ApoB/ApoA1 ratio having the strongest association.<sup>24</sup>

Elevated blood pressure has been established as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease.<sup>25</sup> Hypertension was, early on, shown to accelerate the onset of atherosclerotic plaque in dogs.<sup>26</sup> Hypertension was later identified as significantly associated with arteriosclerotic heart disease in the Framingham study.<sup>27</sup> Hypertension and lipid abnormality interact and together create an excess risk that is not present when only one factor is at play.<sup>28</sup>

In the Framingham study diabetics were shown to have a mortality rate almost three times higher than that of the general population. This could not be entirely explained by their higher rates of other risk factors.<sup>29</sup> Studies have found that diabetics have lower HDL cholesterol levels and higher levels of VLDL triglycerides<sup>30</sup>, which is often referred to as diabetic dyslipidemia. Abnormal glucose levels have also been shown to impact cardiovascular risk.<sup>31</sup> This abnormal metabolic state cause arterial dysfunction and atherosclerosis as reviewed by Dr. Beckman et al. in the Journal of the American Medical Association.<sup>32</sup>

The mortality rate of cigarette smokers from coronary artery disease was shown to be twice the rate of non smokers. <sup>33</sup> Smoking reduced flow-dependent dilation of the epicardial arteries regardless of atherosclerotic plaques. <sup>34</sup> Smoking also increases serum cholesterol levels. <sup>35</sup> The INTERHEART study shows a dose dependent response to smoking, as well as to tobacco, with an increased risk of myocardial infarction. <sup>36</sup>

Diet and lifestyle can affect the risk for a cardiovascular event. Women in the Nurses' Health Study were followed and variables regarding body mass index, alcohol consumption, exercise, and diet were recorded. The researchers found that the population attributable risk was 74% and only 3% of the study population was regarded as low risk with regards to these factors.<sup>37</sup> Another study found that women who exercised at least 2.5 hours a week reduced their risk by 30%. The positive results of exercise remained after adjusting for possible variables in the causal pathway.<sup>38</sup> Exercise increases insulin sensitivity, lowering the risk of diabetes mellitus.<sup>39</sup> A prospective study on men indicated that alcohol intake was inversely related to the incidence of coronary disease.<sup>40</sup> This is also reflected in a study on moderate drinking with only women where higher alcohol intake was related to lower cardiovascular risk.<sup>41</sup> A joint association analysis for drinking and physical activity was done to determine the risk of cardiovascular mortality. The study indicates that within each given alcohol group, low activity was linked to increased mortality but was negated by high physical activity.<sup>42</sup>

The Mediterranean diet has received much interest as the populations following this diet have had low rates of cardiovascular disease. This diet is characterized by olive oil as the primary fat source, a high intake of vegetables and cereals, and a higher intake of fish. Food from animal sources is used in moderation as is alcohol intake. <sup>43</sup> A small trial suggests that adhering to this diet increases insulin sensitivity and endothelial function. <sup>44</sup>A randomized secondary prevention trial indicated that a Mediterranean type diet had a protective effect against recurrence of a cardiovascular event. <sup>45</sup> A new study, published in 2013, divided the study population into three dietary intervention groups. Two groups went on the Mediterranean diet with either extra-virgin olive oil or nuts supplemented and one group was used as a control. Both versions of the diet had a protective effect for high risk individuals, with a relative risk reduction of approximately 30% of a primary cardiovascular event. <sup>46</sup>

# 1.1.2 Non-modifiable risk factors

Family history is an independent risk factor for coronary artery disease.<sup>47</sup> The risk is impacted by the age of the parent's first event, that is the younger the parent, the more likely the subject is to experience a cardiovascular event, such as myocardial infarction.<sup>48</sup> Genetics play a role in coronary artery disease and 46 susceptible loci have been discovered that explain 10.6% of the heritability.<sup>49</sup>

It is well known that age has negative effects on the cardiovascular system. The changes are both on a cellular and structural level as reviewed by Dr. Lakatta in Heart Failure

Reviews.<sup>50</sup> The changes in vascular stiffness, vascular intimal thickness and altered regulation of vascular tone all contribute to atherosclerosis. This is caused in part by growing arterial stiffness, though endurance training may mitigate some of the effects.<sup>51</sup> Flow mediated dilation declines with age despite good health but is stable in men until ~41 and early fifties for women. Interestingly, women retain optimum flow-mediated dilation for almost a decade longer. However, the rates of decline are much higher for women, at 0.49% per year and only 0.21% for men.<sup>52</sup> Using non-invasive techniques researchers have seen that thickening of the intima-media occurs with advancing age. Women seem to develop the thickening about five to ten years later than men.<sup>53</sup> Why this happens is still unknown, but it might be chronic increase in local distending pressure, that leads to the thickening of the arterial wall.<sup>54</sup> These differences help explain why women develop cardiovascular disease later in life than men, or about ten years later.<sup>25</sup>

The first prevention guideline for women by the American Heart Association was published in 1999.<sup>55</sup> Though the risk factors are the same for both genders they have differing strengths depending on the gender. Patients with diabetes mellitus have a higher incidence of mortality from cardiovascular diseases. Diabetic women have a 3-fold increased risk of mortality and the men 2-fold in the Framingham study.<sup>56</sup> The European Society of Cardiology and the European Atherosclerosis Society guidelines for the management of dyslipidemias places the relative risk even higher at ~5 for women and ~3 for men.<sup>57</sup> This may be explained by the difference in lipoprotein levels. Diabetic women have significantly higher markers of the lipoproteins apoB, LDL cholesterol, non-HDL cholesterol and LDL particle count which are all associated with atherogenesis. This difference is not significant when diabetic and non-diabetic men are compared.<sup>58</sup> Smoking seems to have a larger effect on women than men. Using data from three studies in Denmark, researchers showed a higher relative risk in current female smokers, of 2.24, than male smokers, of 1.43, when compared to non-smokers.<sup>59</sup> This finding has also been confirmed in a large meta analysis that uses data from prospective cohort studies around the world with almost 4 million participants.<sup>60</sup> Other studies suggest that gender differences are rather based on environmental factors and are therefore modifiable.<sup>61</sup>

## 1.2 Stressors

In 1990 an article was published from the MILIS study examining possible triggers for myocardial infarction. These included physical activity and emotional upset, and were reported in almost half the subjects.<sup>62</sup> Certain trends such as variance in circadian rhythm have also been documented.<sup>63</sup> The mechanisms behind these triggers are still debated though the empirical evidence is steadily increasing.

#### 1.2.1 Possible mechanisms

Mental stress has been shown to have an effect on cardiovascular disease in various ways. Mental stress has, in experimental studies, been induced using a combination of stressors such as public speaking and mental arithmetic. <sup>64</sup> These methods have been used to clinically mimic those of emotional stressors. In such experimental settings mental stress tests have an effect on those with diagnosed coronary artery disease <sup>65</sup>, as well as healthy individuals <sup>66</sup>, causing transient endothelial dysfunction. Under this kind of strain researchers have observed that the endothelium dependent flow mediated dilatation is greatly reduced for up to four hours <sup>66</sup>. This is possibly induced via activation of ET<sub>A</sub> receptors that mediate the effects of endothelin on arterial contraction. <sup>67</sup> In subjects with coronary artery disease there was vasoconstriction in diseased segments. <sup>68</sup> Another study using healthy individuals tried to block the reduction of the endothelial vasodilatation function by infusing different blockades during a mental stress test. Their results showed that beta adrenergic blockade reduced the negative effects of the mental stress test but alpha adrenergic blockades had no effect. <sup>69</sup>

Japanese researchers first discovered that many stress related incidents closely resemble myocardial infarction except there was an absence of obstructive coronary disease. This was first described in an English language journal in 1991 and was called Takotsubo cardiomyopathy by the Japanese researchers. There are now several names describing this phenomenon including apical ballooning syndrome and stress cardiomyopathy. The pathogenesis of Takotsubo cardiomyopathy is still unknown but a few mechanisms have been suggested. High levels of plasma catecholamines and stress related peptides have been measured in patients, giving rise to a catecholamine mediated mechanism. Intravenous injections of adrenaline induced takotsubo-like cardiomyopathy in cynomolgus monkeys further solidifying the role of the sympathetic nervous system.

The exact mechanism is still debated but one theory is that microvascular dysfunction occurs. This has been supported by the abnormal Thrombolysis In Myocardial Infarction (TIMI) frame count found in studies.<sup>75</sup> Direct myocyte effects with a unique contraction band necrosis<sup>76</sup> have been reported but the body of evidence is still scarce. Another issue is the discrepancy in age and gender of the patients as they are primarily postmenopausal women.<sup>77</sup> This raises the question of the role of sex hormones in the pathogenesis since there are gender

differences in the regulation of the sympathetic nervous system.<sup>78</sup> It is interesting to note that the akinesia is transient<sup>71</sup> and four year survival is comparable to the general population.<sup>79</sup>

In addition to Takotsubo cardiomyopathy, rising incidence of classic myocardial infarctions and thrombotic disease have been reported under stressful circumstances. <sup>80</sup> Plaque rupture and arrhythmias can be triggered by emotional stressors. <sup>81</sup> Plaque may rupture due to increased shear stress at the site of a weak atherosclerotic plaque. Evidence from earthquake survivors suggests that blood viscosity and blood pressure increases during an emotional trigger. <sup>82</sup>

#### **1.2.2** Grief

The effects of grief of have been of interest to poets, philosophers and scholars through the ages. In the 1950's there were systematic studies to explore mortality rates of widowers<sup>83</sup> and close relatives of the deceased.<sup>84</sup> When the causes of death were examined there was a striking increase in cardiovascular diseases, especially coronary thrombosis and other arteriosclerotic and degenerative heart diseases. One study revealed 77 deaths when 46 were expected in the first six months.<sup>83</sup> A more recent study using a case crossover method demonstrated that the risk of an acute myocardial infarction peaks during the first 24 hours with a 21.1 fold risk, and remains significant for the first month.<sup>80</sup>

#### 1.2.3 Anxiety

A study of postmenopausal women who recently experienced panic attacks found that they had a higher risk of coronary heart disease. The risk remained in the fully adjusted model indicating that panic attacks are an independent risk factor<sup>85</sup> for coronary heart disease. A population based study assessing anxiety disorders found that any anxiety disorder increased the likelihood of cardiovascular disease, with an odds ratio of 1.43. This was also true for generalized anxiety disorder and specific phobias.<sup>86</sup> However there is still a question whether this risk is entirely independent from the increased risk associated with depression.<sup>87</sup>

## 1.2.4 Emotional stress

The majority of studies reporting evidence for the association between emotional stress and heart disease have focused on stressors on a personal basis, such as the loss of a loved one by death<sup>70</sup> or receiving a cancer diagnosis.<sup>88</sup> A study has also shown worse prognosis for women with coronary heart disease who experience marital stress.<sup>89</sup> Growing evidence indicates that these effects can be more far reaching and that the risk for cardiovascular events may be

affected in entire populations following a mass-trauma, such as the aftermath of earthquakes. Los Angeles County was rocked by an earthquake and atherosclerotic cardiovascular deaths soared in the next 24 hours. This was followed with a, potentially compensatory, dip in recorded deaths. An extreme case is a study in Israel tracking mortality during missile attacks in the Persian Gulf War. A 58% increase in mortality during the 24 hours after the first strike was noted and women were especially affected. Mortality rates did not rise in consequent attacks. Even seemly innocuous events such as watching a football game can trigger a cardiac emergency. This was evident during the World Cup in Germany where men had an incidence rate 2.66 times higher than the control period and the incidence rate for women was 1.82.

A study investigated the mortality rates in the first year of a banking crisis, from 1960 to 2002, for males. The study used the World Health Organization (WHO) Global Mortality Database and information on bank crises from the World Bank. When looking only at nineteen high income countries, including Iceland, the short-term increase in cardiovascular disease mortality was 6.4%. For low income countries the increase was a staggering 26%. The INTERHEART study also showed that severe financial stress had an odds ratio of 1.33 for experiencing an acute myocardial infarction. Business failure especially had a high risk and job loss was also a significant risk. <sup>20</sup>

## 1.3 The economic crisis in Iceland

The economy of Iceland had been experiencing a banking boom with rapid economic growth during the early 2000's. This culminated in 2007 when unemployment was only 2.3%<sup>95</sup> and the annual gross domestic product (GDP) rose by 4.9% in Iceland compared to 2.7% in the OECD countries.<sup>96</sup> The three main Icelandic banks had grown substantially and their assets were 923% of Iceland's GDP at the end of 2007.<sup>97</sup>

In October of 2008 the three main banks were nationalized, representing 85% of total banking assets. This happened very suddenly with the Financial Supervisory Authority temporarily suspending trading of the banks on the morning of October 6. Emergency laws regarding banking took effect the next day to take over the failing banks. This date is often marked by the unusual address made by Prime Minister Geir H. Haarde where he asks the Icelandic people to, "show fortitude in the face of adversity", and "to guard that which is most important in the life of everyone of us". The banks were nationalized the same week. 102

The nationalization of Landsbanki sparked an international dispute with the British government. The United Kingdom parliament invoked the Anti-terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001 to seize the bank's assets through Landsbanki Freezing Order 2008 on October 8. <sup>103</sup> This further destabilized the economy and there was talk of national bankruptcy. Finally on October 24 the International Monetary Fund (IMF) announced an outline for a two year loan to Iceland for \$2.1 billion. <sup>104</sup>

The main concern during the immediate aftermath was the free-fall of the krona. The Central Bank stepped in with a directive to control currency flow on October 10<sup>th</sup>. This included prioritizing payments for foodstuffs and pharmaceuticals. This was followed by a sharp increase in unemployment, with levels around 9% in 2009. Stress levels also increased in the Icelandic population. A prospective cohort study examined stress levels during 2007 and 2009. The researchers found significantly higher stress levels in women in 2009 and higher stress levels in families in the middle income bracket.

#### 1.4 Aim

A previous observational study investigated the changes in attendance at the Emergency Departments (EDs) in Reykjavik following the economic crisis. It revealed a surge in visits with discharge diagnoses of I00-I99 and R00-R09. This was particularly among women or a 44% increase when compared with the weeks leading up to the banking crisis. This raises the question whether and how the women entering the EDs during the week of the economic crisis are different from those attending when no societal disaster is ongoing. The aim of this new study is to further determine underlying clinical characteristics and diagnoses of women attending EDs for cardiovascular disease during the week of the national economic collapse in 2008.

#### 1.4.1 Specific aims:

- A) To contrast attending and discharge diagnoses of female attendees in the week of the collapse compared to two preceding weeks.
- B) To contrast presenting symptoms, cardiovascular risk factors and vital signs at arrival of attendees in the collapse week versus non-collapse weeks.
- C) To contrast length of stay, rates of hospitalization and test results of women attending in the week of the economic collapse compared to women attending during two previous weeks.

## 2 Methods

# 2.1 Study design, setting and population

The subjects of this paper are Icelandic women admitted to the Emergency Departments of Landspitali University Hospital (EDs) with an ICD 10: I00-I99 diagnosis during the collapse week of the 2008 economic crisis in Iceland. Women entering the EDs with an ICD 10: I00-I99 diagnosis during the two weeks prior served as controls. This is a retrospective study of electronic records and charts of female attendees to the emergency departments with symptoms in the cardiovascular system during a three week period, from September 22<sup>nd</sup> to October 13<sup>th</sup> 2008. The study base constitutes all women in the larger Reykjavik area (population size: 98,021 females including children).<sup>110</sup> The study population is all women attending the emergency departments with admittance diagnoses of I00-I099 (excluding ICD 10: I60-I69 and I80-I89) during this period.

Landspitali is a tertiary care facility and mainly serves the inhabitants of the greater area of Reykjavik. However in times of crisis and for specialized cases Landspitali can be used by the entire nation. There are two Emergency Departments that can admit patients to Landspitali. The first is a general emergency department located on the Fossvogur campus and the second is a cardiac emergency department on the Hringbraut campus.

Person identification numbers are given to all Icelanders at birth or on obtaining Icelandic citizenship and are maintained through the National Register of Persons.<sup>111</sup> These personal identification numbers are used to track patients through the hospitalization and can be linked with other registries such as the Mortality Files with the Directorate of Health. The same personal identification number is used throughout a person's life.

Information on the number of visits and their personal identification number was attained through Landspitali University Hospital Health Information Technology Department. Each medical record was then examined electronically through the SAGA system and paper charts were retrieved as necessary from Medical Charts Storage System of Landspitali.

After collecting data on all women admitted to the EDs during the three week period the decision was made to exclude two groups due to lack of relevant data. The two diagnostic subgroups excluded were cerebrovascular cardiovascular disease (ICD 10: I60-69) and diseases of veins, lymphatic vessels and lymph nodes (ICD 10: I80-89). One woman was excluded from the study on the basis that she arrived with an emergency flight from Greenland and had no connection with Iceland. In addition, one woman admitted during the

collapse week was a patient of the Landspitali Department of Mental Health and her length of stay may have been underestimated.

## 2.2 Exposure definition

Exposure was defined by the calendar week (week 41) after the Prime Minister's address to the Icelandic nation on the pending economic collapse, at 4:00pm on October 6<sup>th</sup> 2008 and during one week after that, or to 4.00pm on October 13<sup>th</sup> 2008. Women admitted during this period were considered exposed to the economic crisis. Women admitted during the two weeks prior to 4.00pm on October 6, 2008 - weeks 39 and 40 - were considered as unexposed to the economic crisis.

#### 2.3 Ascertainment of outcomes

Information was collected from electronic records of the SAGA system and paper charts were retrieved as necessary from Medical Charts Storage System of Landspitali.

The following variables were collected electronically: all diagnoses, age, timing of attendance, admittance to Landspitali, date of discharge, and date of death. The diagnoses collected were admittance and discharge diagnoses as well as prior diagnosis of mental disorders and heart disease. Diagnosis of heart disease is defined as ICD 10 I00-I99 and mental disorders as ICD 10 F00-F99. Diagnoses are made using the International Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10<sup>th</sup> Revision (ICD 10). This is a coding system created by the World Health Organization (WHO) and ensures clarity with diagnoses. All discharge diagnoses of heart disease are made in conjunction with attending cardiologists.

The majority of variables were obtained manually from the electronic medical charts. Data recorded from the EDs and admittance charts if hospitalized includes presenting symptoms (yes/no), vital signs, risk factors for cardiovascular disease (CVD) (yes/no), occupation, residency, method of arrival (yes/no) and medication. Method of arrival and risk factors for CVD were also examined in the paper charts. The data from the EDs relied on self reporting. Presenting symptoms recorded were with chest pains with exertion, chest pain without exertion, tachycardia, irregular heartbeat, dyspnea, dizziness, nausea and radiating pain. Radiating pain was differentiated into arm, neck, jaw and between the shoulder blades. Vital signs recorded were heart rate (beats per minute), blood pressure (mmHg), temperature (°C), respiratory rate (breaths per minute) and oxygen saturation levels (%). The CVD risk

factors recorded were history of smoking, family history of CVD, hypertension, diabetes mellitus and lipid abnormalities.

Diagnostic tests were recorded manually from electronic charts. The diagnostic tests recorded were results from blood analysis, electrocardiography (ECG), echocardiograms, stress tests, ambulatory ECG, pulmonary x-rays and cardiac catheterization. Diagnostic tests, excepting ECG and pulmonary x-rays, were considered part of the stay if they were completed within three months of admittance. ECGs and pulmonary x-rays were only recorded if ordered during the stay. Two ECG results were collected when available, the first and last of the stay. The data recorded was heart rate, cardiac rhythm, T wave inversion, ST depression and elevation, axis deviation, R wave progression and ectopic beats. Blood analysis was also collected twice when possible, the first and last of the visit. Blood analysis results collected were levels of troponin T, C reactive protein, myoglobin, N terminal fragment of B type natriuretic protein, creatine kinase, creatine kinase MB, white blood cell count, catecholamines, cortisol, haemoglobin, glucose, creatinine, cholesterol and HDL cholesterol.

The following variables were obtained manually from the medical paper charts: height (meters) and weight (kilos), method of arrival, risk factors for CVD, and ECG results. If an ambulance was used the log was filed with the individual's medical record. Height and weight measurements were collected from the medical charts if the statistics had been reported within three months before or after the visit to the EDs. The original paper chart from the EDs was used to ascertain negative risk factors. Paper records of ECG's were used to determine PR interval, QRS complex duration and QT interval. Normal ranges for PR interval were 120-200ms, QRS complex duration 80-120ms and QT intervals up to 420ms with a heartbeat of 60 beats per minute.

## 2.4 Data analysis

Using descriptive statistics, we contrasted frequencies in characteristics, attending symptoms and proportions in each diagnostic category of female attendees during the week of the economic crisis vs. preceding comparison weeks. Data was presented as counts, percentages and means  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) of the groups. We used chi2 or simple t-test to compare proportions with characteristics or symptoms or means in clinical parameters. We considered p-values of <0.05 as statistically significant. Data was collected using Filemaker Pro 12 and all results were calculated using SAS 9.2.

# 2.5 Ethics approval

Approval for this study was obtained from the Science Ethics Committee of Landspítali University Hospital and the Data Protection Authority.

## 3 Results

In the weeks 39, 40 and 41 of 2008, 78 women were admitted with ICD 10: I00-I99 diagnoses to the Emergency Departments in Reykjavik. 29 women were admitted during week 41, and 49 women in weeks 39 and 40. After excluding those admitted to the EDs with ICD 10: I60-I69 and I80-I89 diagnoses there were 59 female attendees during the weeks of the study; leaving 25 women in the index week and 34 in the preceding two weeks that were included in this study.

The increase reflects a 47% increase in attendance during the collapse week. The difference in admittance rates is not statistically significant (p=0.07). Time of arrival indicates that there is an increase in visits on Monday  $6^{th}$  of October 2008 when compared against arrivals the previous Mondays. After 4 pm on the  $6^{th}$  there were seven visits compared with four visits on the  $29^{th}$  of September.

## 3.1 Baseline characteristics

Table 1. describes the baseline characteristics of women admitted to the Emergency Departments in Reykjavik during weeks 39-41 in 2008. It was possible to calculate the body mass index (BMI) of 8 (32%) women in the index group and 16 (47%) in the control group. The eight women had a mean BMI of 26.3±4.3. The 16 women had a mean BMI of 31.1±6.0. The differences in BMIs between the groups yielded a p value of 0.06. Over 90% of the women entering the EDs had a prior history of heart disease. In the index week 9 (36%) women had a prior diagnosis of chronic ischemic disease (ICD 10: I25) and 12 (35%) women in the preceding two weeks. Overall, no statistically significant differences were observed between women attending in the week of the collapse compared to women attending in preceding weeks with respect to age distribution, residency, or smoking history. Differences were not either observed with regards to admittance rates or duration of stay. Women attending in the week of the collapse were marginally less likely to report lipid abnormalities (p=0.05) and family history of cardiovascular disease (p=0.09). Women in the collapse week were also more likely to have arrived with an ambulance (Table 1).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of women admitted to the Emergency Departments in Reykjavik during weeks 39-41 in 2008.

Characteristic	Exposed N = 25	Unexposed N = 34	P Value
No. of women ≤ 50 years old (%)	4 (16)	4 (12)	0.64
No. of women > 50 years old (%)	21 (84)	30 (88)	0.64
Mean age (years) (SD)	70.1 (18.1)	69.1 (15.2)	0.83
Resident of the greater Reykjavik area (%)	21 (84)	30 (88)	0.71
Hypertension (%)	16 (64)	20 (59)	0.69
Diabetes mellitus (%)	5 (20)	4 (12)	0.39
Lipid abnormalities (%)	3 (12)	12 (35)	0.05
Family history of CVD (%)	5 (20)	14 (56)	0.09
Current smoker (%)	8 (32)	6 (18)	0.35
Non-smoker (%)	14 (56)	18 (53)	0.40
Previous 100-199 diagnosis	24 (96)	32 (94)	0.75
Arrival by ambulance (%)	9 (36)	4 (12)	0.01
Overnight observation (%)	3 (12)	5 (15)	0.95
Admitted to the hospital (%)	10 (40)	12 (35)	0.62
Length of stay if admitted (days) (SD)	12.4 (11.9)	7.2 (7.5)	0.22
Length of stay if not admitted (hours) (SD)	8.5 (6.5)	12.7 (9.9)	0.16
Death within 30 days (%)	2 (8)	1 (3)	0.38

## 3.2 Discharge diagnosis

Discharge diagnoses of attendees in the week of the economic collapse and preceding comparison weeks are presented in Table 2. In the two comparison weeks the two largest discharge groups were hypertensive diseases (I10-I15) and other forms of heart disease (I30-I52) with 30% of patients in each group. This is different in the index week where the largest diagnosis group is ischemic heart disease (I20-I25). In the index week 8 (32%) patients had a diagnosis of ischemic heart disease and 4 (12%) in the preceding two weeks. This increase from 12% to 32% represents an odds ratio of 3.53 (0.92-13.4). Seven (88%) of the patients with an ischemic heart disease diagnosis in the collapse week had the diagnosis of angina pectoris (I20). This is different from preceding weeks where one (25%) had that diagnosis yielding a p value of 0.03.

Table 2. Discharge diagnoses for women admitted to the Emergency Departments in Reykjavik during weeks 39-41 in 2008.

Discharge diagnosis	Exposed N = 25	Unexposed N = 34	P Value
I10-I15 Hypertensive diseases (%)	3 (12)	10 (30)	0.12
I20-I25 Ischemic heart diseases (%)	8 (32)	4 (12)	0.07
I26-I28 Pulmonary heart disease and diseases of pulmonary circulation (%)	0 (0)	1 (3)	0.96
130-152 Other forms of heart disease (%)	3 (12)	10 (30)	0.66
170-179 Diseases of arteries, arterioles and capillaries (%)	0 (0)	1 (3)	No value obtained
I95-I99 Other and unspecified disorders of the circulatory system (%)	1 (4)	1 (3)	No value obtained

## 3.3 Presenting symptoms

Similar proportion of individuals presented with chest pains with exertion, four, chest pain without exertion, ten, tachycardia, nine, and irregular heartbeat, five, during the index and preceding weeks demonstrating an odds ratio respectively of 1.4(0.32- 6.36), 1.6 (0.54 – 4.75), 1.5 (0.5- 4.77) and 1.5 (0.37-5.67). Nausea seemed more prevalent in the index week with five cases vs. only one in the weeks prior and an odds ratio of 8.3 (0.90-75.80). Dyspnea was recorded in seven cases in the index week and thirteen cases in the comparison weeks with an odds ratio of 0.6 (0.21-1.91). Dizziness was observed twice in the index group and four times in the control group with an odds ratio of 0.7 (0.11-3.88). Radiating pain was recorded in nine cases during the entire three week period. Oxygen saturation was recorded on arrival in 15 (60%) patients during the index week and 23 (68%) in the previous two weeks. Three (12%) patients needed oxygen on arrival in the index week and two (6%) patients in the comparison weeks.

The vital signs upon arrival at the ED's are recorded in Table 3. Overall, no statistically significant differences were observed between women attending in the week of the collapse compared with women attending in preceding weeks with respect to blood pressure readings, heart rate, temperature and respiratory rate. When women with an I20-I25 diagnosis are examined specifically there are still no significant differences between the groups on presentation.

Table 3. Vital signs of women admitted to the Emergency Departments in Reykjavik during weeks 39-41 in 2008. Comparison of all cases with cases presenting with I20-I25 diagnoses.

Vital sign	Exposed All diagnoses N = 25	Unexposed All diagnoses N = 34	P value All diagnoses	Exposed 120-125 dignoses N = 8	Unexposed I20-I25 diagnoses N = 4	P value I20-I25 diagnoses
Heart rate (SD)	84.8 (24.5)	92.4 (33.7)	0.36	69.1 (16.7)	74.5 (10.5)	0.57
Missing	2	3		0	0	
Systolic pressure (SD)	142.9 (29.1)	152.0 (31.0)	0.28	141.3 (34.2)	141.3(22.6)	1.00
Missing	2	3		0	0	
Diastolic pressure (SD)	73.8 (15.6)	80.4 (18.1)	0.17	70.1 (14.4)	77.3 (18.0)	0.47
Missing	2	3		0	0	
Temperature (°C)(SD)	37.0 (0.8)	36.6 (0.7)	0.17	36.6 (1.0)	36.0 (0.8)	No value obtained
Missing	14	15		3	1	

## 3.4 Clinical tests

Echocardiograms were performed on seven (28%) patients in the collapse week and eight (24%) in the preceding weeks. Three (43%) echocardiograms in the index week were normal and two (25%) in the preceding weeks. Of the women with an I20-I25 diagnosis 3 (38%) from the collapse week underwent an echocardiogram and two (25%) women from the preceding weeks. Pulmonary x-rays were taken 17 (68%) times in the index week and 14 (41%) times in the preceding weeks. Six of the index week's pulmonary x-rays were normal and five in the preceding two weeks. When examining I20-25 diagnoses seven (88%) women from the collapse week had a pulmonary x ray and one (13%) woman from the previous two weeks. 11 cardiac catheterization were performed during the three week period. Patients with an I20-I25 diagnosis underwent the procedure eight times. Four (50%) of the women from the index week underwent cardiac catheterization. Four (100%) women from the previous two weeks underwent cardiac catheterization. All but one had percutaneous coronary intervention and the final woman had a coronary artery bypass graft.

#### 3.5 ECG results

The ECG results are presented in Table 4. They include heart rate, cardiac rhythm, and number of patients with ST depression and T wave inversion. 21 paper ECG were studied, 11 (44%) from the exposed group and 10 (29%) from the control group. They revealed a mean PR interval, QT interval and QRS duration in the normal range. The axis was normal in all cases studied. There was not a significant difference between the two groups in regards to the

ECG results. In addition, those diagnosed with an I20-I25 diagnosis were examined separately. All patients had an ECG recording but seven paper records were recovered. There were five (63%) from the exposed group and two (50%) from the control group. They revealed a mean PR interval, QT interval and QRS duration in the normal range. There was not a significant difference between the two groups in regards to the ECG results. However three (38%) women from the collapse week had T wave inversions and ST depressions compared with one (25%) woman from the preceding two weeks.

Table 4. ECG results from women admitted to the Emergency Departments in Reykjavik during weeks 39-41 in 2008. Comparison of all cases with cases presenting with I20-I25 diagnoses.

Characteristic	Exposed All diagnoses N = 25	Unexposed All diagnoses N = 34	P value All diagnoses	Exposed 120-125 dignoses N = 8	Unexposed 120-125 diagnoses N = 4	P value 120-125 diagnoses
No. of patients	23 (92)	30 (88)	0.64	8 (100)	4 (100)	No value obtained
undergoing procedure (%)	25 (52)	30 (00)	0.04	0 (100)	4(100)	No value obtained
Heart Rate (SD)	90.4 (27.3)	90.8 (36.4)	0.97	71.0 (16.7)	67.66	0.75
Missing	6	16		1	1	
Sinus rhythm	20	24	0.38	7	4	1
Atrial fibrillation	3	4	0.94	0	0	No value obtained
T–wave inversion	5	2	0.14	3	1	No value obtained
ST depression	3	1	0.23	3	1	No value obtained

## 3.6 First blood analysis

The results of the first blood analysis are presented in Table 5. Hemoglobin levels were marginally lower in patients admitted during the index week with a mean of 120.4 g/L compared to 130.9 g/L in the prior two weeks (p=0.06). Cholesterol and HDL cholesterol levels were measured in 22 individuals. The mean of the results lie in the normal range and there was no significant difference between the groups. Creatinine kinase MB was measured in 6 (24%) exposed individuals and 9 (26%) individuals in the previous weeks. The mean of both groups were lower than the cutoff value of < 7  $\mu$ g/L. All individuals with an I20-I25 diagnosis had blood work done but no significant differences were detected.

Table 5. The first blood analysis from the women admitted to the Emergency Departments in Reykjavik during weeks 39-41 in 2008. Comparison of all cases with cases presenting with 120-125 diagnoses.

Blood test	Exposed All diagnoses N = 25	Unexposed All diagnoses N = 34	P value All diagnoses	Exposed 120-125 dignoses N = 8	Unexposed I20-I25 diagnoses N = 4	P value I20-I25 diagnoses
No. of patients undergoing procedure (%)	25 (100)	33 (97)	0.96	8 (100)	4 (100)	No value obtained
Troponin T (ng/L) (SD)	0.37 (1.52)	0.02 (0.03)	0.32	0.87 (2.31)	0.04 (0.07)	0.35
Missing	6	13		0	0	
C reactive protein (mg/L) (SD)	36.5 (57.9)	16.7 (32.8)	0.32	30.7 (47.9)		No value obtained
Missing	14	17		5	4	
Creatinine (µmól/L) (SD)	82.6 (27.2)	89.7 (42.2)	0.47	85.3 (30.3)	78.5 (14.8)	0.78
Missing	2	4		2	2	
White blood cell count (x 109/L) (SD)	8.62 (3.7)	7.37 (1.5)	0.13	9.87 (4.2)	6.63 (0.9)	0.12
Missing	2	1		2	0	
Hemoglobin (g/L) (SD)	120.4 (22.3)	130.9 (19.2)	0.06	118.0 (17.0)	129.8 (26.4)	0.41
Missing	2	0		2	0	
Glucose (mmol/L) (SD)	5.8 (2.3)	5.6 (0.8)	0.61	6.9 (4.2)	5.5 (0.9)	0.62
Missing	7	9		3	1	

## 3.7 Second blood analysis

The second blood analysis was taken from 13 (52%) patients in the index week and 16 (47%) in the preceding weeks. The hemoglobin levels are now similar, 122 g/L for the index week, from 11(44%) patients, and 123.6 g/L for the preceding weeks, from 12 (35%) patients. Troponin T was measure again in 5 (20%) patients from the index week with a mean of 0.09±0.15ng/L. Nine (27%) patients in the preceding weeks had a second troponin T measurement with an average level of 0.06±0.10 ng/L. C reactive protein was measured for a second time in 6 (24%) patients from the index week and 3 (9%) in the preceding weeks. 4 of the 6 measurements were above the cut off value of <10 mg/L<sup>112</sup> and 1 from the comparison group. A second white blood cell count was taken from 11(44%) patients in the index week with a mean of  $8.3\pm3.1 \times 10^9$ /L. 12 (35%) patients from the previous weeks had lower counts with a mean of 5.9±1.4 x 10<sup>9</sup>/L. This difference is statistically significant with a p value of 0.04. Creatinine levels were measured a second time for 10 (40%) women in the index week with a mean of 101.6±47.4. This is higher than for the 11 (32%) women who had a second test and had a mean of 83.5±37.8. This difference is not significant with a p value of 0.34. Nine women with an I20-I25 diagnosis had a second blood test, but no one test was performed in more than half of the women.

## 4 Discussion

Our population-based study of attendance to the Emergency Departments in Reykjavik indicates approximately 47% increase in female attendance for cardiovascular problems during the week of the economic collapse week in Iceland Female attendees in the collapse week were more likely than women attending during the two preceding weeks to be discharged with a diagnosis of ischemic heart disease which primarily was explained by a drastic increase in cases of angina pectoris. Female attendees in the collapse week were less likely to report lipid abnormalities or family history of cardiovascular disease, although small numbers and missing data hinder definite conclusions.

# 4.1 Comparison with earlier studies

The economic crisis in Iceland constitutes a unique opportunity to observe a prosperous country swiftly sink into a recession. Earlier studies examine mostly mortality rates over longer periods of time. A few studies have examined the collapse of the Soviet Union. They found that the life expectancy declined steeply from 1990 to 1994. This was largely explained an increase in accidents, alcohol related causes, and cardiovascular disease. However, this situation is not completely comparable as the social upheaval was immense for the newly formed Russia. 113 A better comparison is the recession in South Korea in 1997. One study found that cardiovascular mortality rose immediately with all cause mortality rising after the first year. 114 During Argentinean financial crisis in 1999 the incidence of in-hospital myocardial infarction and congestive heart failure rose significantly. 115 In fact a study examined the mortality rates in the first year of a banking crisis in 19 high income countries during a 42 year period. They discovered a 6.4% increase in short term cardiovascular disease mortality.<sup>94</sup> However another study examining deaths from coronary heart disease in the United States from 1979-1998 drew the opposite conclusions. The researchers found a onepercentage-point reduction in unemployment raised mortality by 0.75%. 116 These studies do not look at the immediate impact of the financial crisis and do not examine subgroups or perform further analysis of these individuals.

An earlier study of visits to the EDs in Reykjavik in the weeks surrounding the economic collapse in Iceland revealed an increase in attendees of the cardiac ED during the collapse week. This increase was marginal in males but significant for women, especially with

regards to ischemic heart diagnoses (ICD 10: I20-I25). This increase is confirmed in our study which in addition narrows down these diagnoses to an increase in cases of angina pectoris (I20).

The increase in ischemic heart disease diagnoses during this time falls in line with other studies on mass-trauma, such as after earthquakes<sup>90</sup> and even football matches.<sup>93</sup> It is well established that emotional triggers can set off acute coronary syndrome<sup>81</sup> which includes unstable angina. Stable angina has also been linked to greater psychosocial stress, including a higher incidence of stressful life events.<sup>117</sup> A highly stressful event, such as receiving a cancer diagnosis, raises the short-term relative risk of death from cardiovascular causes substantially.<sup>88</sup> Another common event is the loss of a loved one which has a 21.1 fold risk of an acute myocardial infarction during the first 24 hours.<sup>80</sup>

Overall we did not observe any differences in characteristics of female attendees during the week of the economic collapse compared to attendees of the two preceding weeks, except with respect to self-reported lipid abnormalities. A study examining Takotsubo syndrome, reported that 73.7% of women over 50 had hypertension and 43.9% hyperlipidemia. In our study the rates of hypertension was lower with 64% of exposed women and 59% of the control group. The rates of blood lipid abnormalities are much lower in this study, with 12% of the collapse group and 35% of the control group reporting abnormalities. <sup>118</sup>

#### 4.2 Possible mechanisms

A possible mechanism is an increase in Takotsubo syndrome which is catecholamine mediated stunning of the heart.<sup>73</sup> The exact mechanism is unknown. It affects mostly postmenopausal women and is characterized by its distinctive areas of akinesia and the lack of obstructive coronary arteries.<sup>119</sup> One possibility is that this is through microvascular dysfunction. This is supported by the abnormal TIMI frame count found in studies.<sup>75</sup> Another possibility is that the catecholamines have a direct myocyte effect. A unique contraction band necrosis has been found during autopsy of confirmed cases.<sup>76</sup>

Half of the women with an ischemic heart diagnosis in the collapse week underwent cardiac catheterization but all had obstructive coronary arteries. Another possibility is that weak atherosclerotic plaque may have ruptured. <sup>81</sup> Over 90% of women in both groups had a prior diagnosis of heart disease. The groups did not either differ in regard to prior diagnosis of chronic ischemic heart disease with a third in each group. Yet, small numbers and missing data hinder definite conclusions in comparisons.

#### 4.3 Strengths and limitations

An important strength of this study is the setting. The personal identification numbers and complete electronic registries entails that we have an opportunity to look at the capital population as a whole. This crisis was very contained and had a very definitive trigger point that is often missing when financial crises occur and enables us to create a collapse week with confidence. The short study period was chosen to limit seasonal variation, and to hone in on the immediate aftermath, but a longer control period may have strenghtened our findings. Also, the study base of Reykjavik did not change much during the three weeks of observation, thus it is unlikely that confounding or selection forces affect our results.

Using electronic medical charts we are dependent on others (clinicians) to correctly regiser the data and we may therefore miss individuals who are incorrectly filed. Many variables used in this study were indeed lacking in completeness as clinicans may not complete items that they felt did not apply to their patient. Unfortunately there was more missing data than first thought which hampered our ability to draw definite conclusions. There also seems to be more missing data in the non-exposed group (before the collapse) compared to the week of the collapse. Fewer blood tests were ordered and fewer paper ECGs were recorded before the collapse which may have generated some bias. Lastly, an important weakness in this study is the small population and how few visits there are to Landspitali during the study period. This limits our statistical power.

## 4.4 Conclusions and implications

We can conclude that the economic recession in Iceland had a short term affect on attendance of women to the Emergency department for cardiovascular symptoms, particularly for angina pectoris. Thus these findings may even be considered as a confirmation of the stressful circumstance that Icelanders found themselves in. The dramatic downturn of this prosperous economy created a unique opportunity to study the emotional effects. This study is part of a growing literature demonstrating the variety of emotional stressors that can trigger cardiovascular incidents. To strengthen the findings it might be valuable broaden the scope and examine the entire country and include a longer observation period.

Due to the sudden nature of these events it is difficult to prevent them but it is possible to plan for them when a mass crisis occurs. This relates to both natural disasters and manmade occurrences. Subjective crises and societal changes can have a real physical effect and must be taken into account when planning hospital services.

# Aknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Guðmundur Þorgeirsson, Gunnar Tómasson and Unnur Valdimarsdóttir for their excellent guidance and invaluable help during this time. A special thanks goes to Unnur Valdimarsdóttir for her constant support across the Atlantic. To my friends and family I thank their patience. I am lucky to be loved by such wonderful people.

## References

- 1. Top 10 causes of death. World Health Organization, 2011. (Accessed August 08, 2012, at <a href="http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310/en/index.html">http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310/en/index.html</a>.)
- 2. OECD. Health at a Glance: Europe 2012: OECD; 2012.
- 3. European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version 2012): the Fifth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of nine societies and by invited experts). European Journal of Preventive Cardiology 2012;19:585-667.
- 4. Kumar V, Robbins SL. Robbins basic pathology. 8th ed. Philadelphia, Pa: Saunders/Elsevier; 2007.
- 5. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, et al. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation 1995;92:1355-74.
- 6. Young SG, Parthasarathy S. Why are low-density lipoproteins atherogenic? The Western Journal of Medicine 1994;160:153-64.
- 7. Gotto AM, Brown WV, Levy RI, Birnbaumer ME, Fredrickson DS. Evidence for the identity of the major apoprotein in low density and very low density lipoproteins in normal subjects and patients with familial hyperlipoproteinemia. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 1972;51:1486-94.
- 8. Gwynne J, Brewer HB, Jr., Edelhoch H. The molecular behavior of apoA-I in human high density lipoproteins. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 1975;250:2269-74.
- 9. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, et al. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology 1995;15:1512-31.
- 10. Falk E, Shah PK, Fuster V. Coronary plaque disruption. Circulation 1995;92:657-71.
- 11. Gutstein DE, Fuster V. Pathophysiology and clinical significance of atherosclerotic plaque rupture. Cardiovascular research 1999;41:323-33.
- 12. Dawber TR, Kannel WB, Lyell LP. An approach to longitudinal studies in a community: the Framingham Study. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1963;107:539-56.

- 13. Dawber TR, Meadors GF, Moore FE, Jr. Epidemiological approaches to heart disease: the Framingham Study. American journal of Public Health and the Nation's Health 1951;41:279-81.
- 14. Anderson KM, Wilson PW, Odell PM, Kannel WB. An updated coronary risk profile. A statement for health professionals. Circulation 1991;83:356-62.
- 15. Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Larson MG, Massaro JM, Vasan RS. Predicting the 30-year risk of cardiovascular disease: the framingham heart study. Circulation 2009;119:3078-84.
- 16. Conroy RM, Pyorala K, Fitzgerald AP, et al. Estimation of ten-year risk of fatal cardiovascular disease in Europe: the SCORE project. European Heart Journal 2003;24:987-1003.
- 17. Assmann G, Cullen P, Schulte H. Simple scoring scheme for calculating the risk of acute coronary events based on the 10-year follow-up of the prospective cardiovascular Munster (PROCAM) study. Circulation 2002;105:310-5.
- 18. Handbók Hjartaverndar. In: Kópavogur: Hjartavernd; 2008.
- 19. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet 2004;364:937-52.
- 20. Rosengren A, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, et al. Association of psychosocial risk factors with risk of acute myocardial infarction in 11119 cases and 13648 controls from 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet 2004;364:953-62.
- 21. Adler I. Further Studies in Experimental Atherosclerosis. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1917;26:581-602.
- 22. Dawber TR KW, Revotskie N, Stokes JI, Kagan A, Gordon T. Some factors associated with the development of coronary heart disease. Six years' follow-up experience in the Framingham Study. American Journal of Public Health 1959;49:1349-56.
- 23. Miller GJ, Miller NE. Plasma-high-density-lipoprotein concentration and development of ischaemic heart-disease. Lancet 1975;1:16-9.
- 24. McQueen MJ, Hawken S, Wang X, et al. Lipids, lipoproteins, and apolipoproteins as risk markers of myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): a case-control study. Lancet 2008;372:224-33.
- 25. Kagan A, Kannel WB, Dawber TR, Revotskie N. The Coronary Profile. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1963;97:883-94.

- 26. Wakerlin GE, Moss WG, Kiely JP. Effect of experimental renal hypertension on experimental thiouracil-cholesterol atherosclerosis in dogs. Circulation Research 1957;5:426-34.
- 27. Dawber TR, Moore FE, Mann GV. Coronary heart disease in the Framingham study. American Journal of Public Health and the Nation's Health 1957;47:4-24.
- 28. Kannel WB, Castelli WP, McNamara PM. The coronary profile: 12-year follow-up in the Framingham study. Journal of Occupational Medicine: official publication of the Industrial Medical Association 1967;9:611-9.
- 29. Garcia MJ, McNamara PM, Gordon T, Kannel WB. Morbidity and mortality in diabetics in the Framingham population. Sixteen year follow-up study. Diabetes 1974;23:105-11.
- 30. Laakso M, Lehto S, Penttila I, Pyorala K. Lipids and lipoproteins predicting coronary heart disease mortality and morbidity in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes. Circulation 1993;88:1421-30.
- 31. Coutinho M, Gerstein HC, Wang Y, Yusuf S. The relationship between glucose and incident cardiovascular events. A metaregression analysis of published data from 20 studies of 95,783 individuals followed for 12.4 years. Diabetes Care 1999;22:233-40.
- 32. Beckman JA, Creager MA, Libby P. Diabetes and atherosclerosis: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association 2002;287:2570-81.
- 33. Breslow L, Buechley R. Factors in coronary artery disease: cigarette smoking and exercise. California Medicine 1958;89:175-8.
- 34. Zeiher AM, Schachinger V, Minners J. Long-term cigarette smoking impairs endothelium-dependent coronary arterial vasodilator function. Circulation 1995;92:1094-100.
- 35. Craig WY, Palomaki GE, Haddow JE. Cigarette smoking and serum lipid and lipoprotein concentrations: an analysis of published data. BMJ 1989;298:784-8.
- 36. Teo KK, Ounpuu S, Hawken S, et al. Tobacco use and risk of myocardial infarction in 52 countries in the INTERHEART study: a case-control study. Lancet 2006;368:647-58.
- 37. Stampfer MJ, Hu FB, Manson JE, Rimm EB, Willett WC. Primary prevention of coronary heart disease in women through diet and lifestyle. The New England Journal of Medicine 2000;343:16-22.

- 38. Manson JE, Greenland P, LaCroix AZ, et al. Walking compared with vigorous exercise for the prevention of cardiovascular events in women. The New England Journal of Medicine 2002;347:716-25.
- 39. Mayer-Davis EJ, D'Agostino R, Jr., Karter AJ, et al. Intensity and amount of physical activity in relation to insulin sensitivity: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association 1998;279:669-74.
- 40. Rimm EB, Giovannucci EL, Willett WC, et al. Prospective study of alcohol consumption and risk of coronary disease in men. Lancet 1991;338:464-8.
- 41. Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Speizer FE, Hennekens CH. A prospective study of moderate alcohol consumption and the risk of coronary disease and stroke in women. The New England Journal of Medicine 1988;319:267-73.
- 42. Soedamah-Muthu SS, De Neve M, Shelton NJ, Tielemans SM, Stamatakis E. Joint Associations of Alcohol Consumption and Physical Activity With All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality. The American Journal of Cardiology 2013.
- 43. Willett WC, Sacks F, Trichopoulou A, et al. Mediterranean diet pyramid: a cultural model for healthy eating. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1995;61:1402S-6S.
- 44. Esposito K, Marfella R, Ciotola M, et al. Effect of a mediterranean-style diet on endothelial dysfunction and markers of vascular inflammation in the metabolic syndrome: a randomized trial. JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association 2004;292:1440-6.
- 45. de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Martin JL, Monjaud I, Delaye J, Mamelle N. Mediterranean diet, traditional risk factors, and the rate of cardiovascular complications after myocardial infarction: final report of the Lyon Diet Heart Study. Circulation 1999;99:779-85.
- 46. Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvado J, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet. The New England Journal of Medicine 2013;368:1279-90.
- 47. Myers RH, Kiely DK, Cupples LA, Kannel WB. Parental History Is an Independent Risk Factor for Coronary-Artery Disease the Framingham-Study. American Heart Journal 1990;120:963-9.
- 48. Colditz GA, Rimm EB, Giovannucci E, Stampfer MJ, Rosner B, Willett WC. A Prospective-Study of Parental History of Myocardial-Infarction and Coronary-Artery Disease in Men. American Journal of Cardiology 1991;67:933-8.
- 49. Deloukas P, Kanoni S, Willenborg C, et al. Large-scale association analysis identifies new risk loci for coronary artery disease. Nature Genetics 2013;45:25-33.

- 50. Lakatta EG. Age-associated cardiovascular changes in health: impact on cardiovascular disease in older persons. Heart failure reviews 2002;7:29-49.
- 51. Vaitkevicius PV, Fleg JL, Engel JH, et al. Effects of age and aerobic capacity on arterial stiffness in healthy adults. Circulation 1993;88:1456-62.
- 52. Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Spiegelhalter DJ, Georgakopoulos D, Robinson J, Deanfield JE. Aging is associated with endothelial dysfunction in healthy men years before the age-related decline in women. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 1994;24:471-6.
- 53. Allan PL, Mowbray PI, Lee AJ, Fowkes FGR. Relationship between carotid intimamedia thickness and symptomatic and asymptomatic peripheral arterial disease The Edinburgh Artery Study. Stroke 1997;28:348-53.
- 54. Tanaka H, Dinenno FA, Monahan KD, DeSouza CA, Seals DR. Carotid artery wall hypertrophy with age is related to local systolic blood pressure in healthy men. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology 2001;21:82-7.
- 55. Mosca L, Grundy SM, Judelson D, et al. Guide to Preventive Cardiology for Women. AHA/ACC Scientific Statement Consensus panel statement. Circulation 1999;99:2480-4.
- 56. Preis SR, Hwang SJ, Coady S, et al. Trends in all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality among women and men with and without diabetes mellitus in the Framingham Heart Study, 1950 to 2005. Circulation 2009;119:1728-35.
- 57. Reiner Z, Catapano AL, De Backer G, et al. ESC/EAS Guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias: the Task Force for the management of dyslipidaemias of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Atherosclerosis Society (EAS). European Heart Journal 2011;32:1769-818.
- 58. Williams K, Tchernof A, Hunt KJ, Wagenknecht LE, Haffner SM, Sniderman AD. Diabetes, abdominal adiposity, and atherogenic dyslipoproteinemia in women compared with men. Diabetes 2008;57:3289-96.
- 59. Prescott E, Hippe M, Schnohr P, Hein HO, Vestbo J. Smoking and risk of myocardial infarction in women and men: longitudinal population study. BMJ 1998;316:1043-7.
- 60. Huxley RR, Woodward M. Cigarette smoking as a risk factor for coronary heart disease in women compared with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Lancet 2011;378:1297-305.
- 61. Lawlor DA, Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G. Sex matters: secular and geographical trends in sex differences in coronary heart disease mortality. BMJ 2001;323:541-5.

- 62. Tofler GH, Stone PH, Maclure M, et al. Analysis of possible triggers of acute myocardial infarction (the MILIS study). The American Journal of Cardiology 1990;66:22-7.
- 63. Willich SN, Linderer T, Wegscheider K, Leizorovicz A, Alamercery I, Schroder R. Increased morning incidence of myocardial infarction in the ISAM Study: absence with prior beta-adrenergic blockade. ISAM Study Group. Circulation 1989;80:853-8.
- 64. Steptoe A, Vogele C. Methodology of mental stress testing in cardiovascular research. Circulation 1991;83:II14-24.
- 65. Yeung AC, Vekshtein VI, Krantz DS, et al. The effect of atherosclerosis on the vasomotor response of coronary arteries to mental stress. The New England Journal of Medicine 1991;325:1551-6.
- 66. Ghiadoni L, Donald AE, Cropley M, et al. Mental stress induces transient endothelial dysfunction in humans. Circulation 2000;102:2473-8.
- 67. Spieker LE, Hurlimann D, Ruschitzka F, et al. Mental stress induces prolonged endothelial dysfunction via endothelin-A receptors. Circulation 2002;105:2817-20.
- 68. Kop WJ, Krantz DS, Howell RH, et al. Effects of mental stress on coronary epicardial vasomotion and flow velocity in coronary artery disease: relationship with hemodynamic stress responses. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2001;37:1359-66.
- 69. Eriksson M, Johansson K, Sarabi M, Lind L. Mental stress impairs endothelial vasodilatory function by a beta-adrenergic mechanism. Endothelium: Journal of Endothelial Cell Research 2007;14:151-6.
- 70. Hachamovitch R, Chang JD, Kuntz RE, Papageorgiou P, Levin MS, Goldberger AL. Recurrent reversible cardiogenic shock triggered by emotional distress with no obstructive coronary disease. American Heart Journal 1995;129:1026-8.
- 71. Dote K, Sato H, Tateishi H, Uchida T, Ishihara M. [Myocardial stunning due to simultaneous multivessel coronary spasms: a review of 5 cases]. J Cardiol 1991;21:203-14.
- 72. Sharkey SW, Lesser JR, Maron MS, Maron BJ. Why not just call it tako-tsubo cardiomyopathy: a discussion of nomenclature. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2011;57:1496-7.
- 73. Wittstein IS, Thiemann DR, Lima JA, et al. Neurohumoral features of myocardial stunning due to sudden emotional stress. The New England Journal of Medicine 2005;352:539-48.

- 74. Izumi Y, Okatani H, Shiota M, et al. Effects of metoprolol on epinephrine-induced takotsubo-like left ventricular dysfunction in non-human primates. Hypertension research: Official Journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension 2009;32:339-46.
- 75. Bybee KA, Prasad A, Barsness GW, et al. Clinical characteristics and thrombolysis in myocardial infarction frame counts in women with transient left ventricular apical ballooning syndrome. The American Journal of Cardiology 2004;94:343-6.
- 76. D'Errico S, Neri M, Nieddu A, et al. Cardiac beta1-adrenoceptor expression in two stress-induced cardiomyopathy-related deaths. Forensic Science International 2011;207:e8-11.
- 77. Gianni M, Dentali F, Grandi AM, Sumner G, Hiralal R, Lonn E. Apical ballooning syndrome or takotsubo cardiomyopathy: a systematic review. European Heart Journal 2006;27:1523-9.
- 78. Hinojosa-Laborde C, Chapa I, Lange D, Haywood JR. Gender differences in sympathetic nervous system regulation. Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology & Physiology 1999;26:122-6.
- 79. Elesber AA, Prasad A, Lennon RJ, Wright RS, Lerman A, Rihal CS. Four-year recurrence rate and prognosis of the apical ballooning syndrome. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2007;50:448-52.
- 80. Mostofsky E, Maclure M, Sherwood JB, Tofler GH, Muller JE, Mittleman MA. Risk of acute myocardial infarction after the death of a significant person in one's life: the Determinants of Myocardial Infarction Onset Study. Circulation 2012;125:491-6.
- 81. Bhattacharyya MR, Steptoe A. Emotional triggers of acute coronary syndromes: strength of evidence, biological processes, and clinical implications. Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases 2007;49:353-65.
- 82. Kario K, Matsuo T, Kobayashi H, Yamamoto K, Shimada K. Earthquake-induced potentiation of acute risk factors in hypertensive elderly patients: possible triggering of cardiovascular events after a major earthquake. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 1997;29:926-33.
- 83. Parkes CM, Benjamin B, Fitzgerald RG. Broken heart: a statistical study of increased mortality among widowers. British Medical Journal 1969;1:740-3.
- 84. Rees WD, Lutkins SG. Mortality of bereavement. British Medical Journal 1967;4:13-6.

- 85. Smoller JW, Pollack MH, Wassertheil-Smoller S, et al. Panic attacks and risk of incident cardiovascular events among postmenopausal women in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. Archives of General Psychiatry 2007;64:1153-60.
- 86. Goodwin RD, Davidson KW, Keyes K. Mental disorders and cardiovascular disease among adults in the United States. Journal of Psychiatric Research 2009;43:239-46.
- 87. Barger SD, Sydeman SJ. Does generalized anxiety disorder predict coronary heart disease risk factors independently of major depressive disorder? Journal of Affective Disorders 2005;88:87-91.
- 88. Fang F, Fall K, Mittleman MA, et al. Suicide and cardiovascular death after a cancer diagnosis. The New England Journal of Medicine 2012;366:1310-8.
- 89. Orth-Gomer K, Wamala SP, Horsten M, Schenck-Gustafsson K, Schneiderman N, Mittleman MA. Marital stress worsens prognosis in women with coronary heart disease: the Stockholm Female Coronary Risk Study. JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association 2000;284:3008-14.
- 90. Aoki T, Fukumoto Y, Yasuda S, et al. The Great East Japan Earthquake Disaster and cardiovascular diseases. European Heart Journal 2012;33:2796-803.
- 91. Leor J, Poole WK, Kloner RA. Sudden cardiac death triggered by an earthquake. The New England Journal of Medicine 1996;334:413-9.
- 92. Kark JD, Goldman S, Epstein L. Iraqi missile attacks on Israel. The association of mortality with a life-threatening stressor. JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association 1995;273:1208-10.
- 93. Wilbert-Lampen U, Leistner D, Greven S, et al. Cardiovascular events during World Cup soccer. The New England Journal of Medicine 2008;358:475-83.
- 94. Stuckler D, Meissner CM, King LP. Can a bank crisis break your heart? Globalization and Health 2008;4:1.
- 95. Atvinnuþátttaka og atvinnuleysi, árstölur 1991-2011. Statistics Iceland. (Accessed May 1, 2013, at

http://www.hagstofa.is/?PageID=2594&src=/temp/Dialog/varval.asp?ma=VIN01002%26ti=A tvinnu%FE%E1tttaka+og+atvinnuleysi%2C+%E1rst%F6lur+1991%2D2011++%26path=../D atabase/vinnumarkadur/rannsoknir/%26lang=3%26units=Fj%F6ldi/hlutfall%20-%20atvinnuleysi%202007.)

96. Gross Domestic Product 2007 – Revision. Statistical Series: National Accounts 2008.

- 97. IMF. Iceland: Financial System Stability Assessment—Update Washington D.C.: International Monetary Fund; 2008.
- 98. Fridriksson I. The banking crisis in Iceland in 2008: Central Bank of Iceland; 2009.
- 99. Temporary suspension from trading. 2008. (Accessed April 25, 2013, at http://en.fme.is/published-material/news--announcements/news/nr/1405.)
- 100. Alþingi. Lög um heimild til fjárveitingar úr ríkissjóði vegna sérstakra aðstæðna á fjármálamarkaði o.fl. In: Alþingi, ed.; 2008.
- 101. Haarde GH. Address to the Nation by H.E. Geir H. Haarde, Prime Minister of Iceland. In: Prime Minister's Office; 2008.
- 102. Special Investigation Commission. Excerpts from the report of the Special Investigation Commission; 2010.
- 103. House of Parliament. The Landsbanki Freezing Order 2008. In. United Kingdom; 2008.
- 104. IMF and Iceland Outline \$2.1 Billion Loan Plan. In: IMF Survey Magazine: International Monetary Fund; 2008.
- 105. Gengisskráning. Central Bank of Iceland. (Accessed May 25, 2013, at http://dev.sedlabanki.is/default.aspx?PageID=7.)
- 106. Central Bank of Iceland. Temporary modifications in currency outflow. In: Central Bank of Iceland; 2008.
- 107. Wages, income and labour market. (Accessed May 23, 2013, at
- http://www.statice.is/?PageID=1191&src=/temp\_en/Dialog/varval.asp?ma=VIN01001%26ti= Activity+rate%2C+unemployment+and+labour+force+by+quarters+2003-
- 2013+%26path=../Database/vinnumarkadur/rannsoknir/%26lang=1%26units=Numbe/percent.
- 108. Hauksdottir A, McClure C, Jonsson SH, Olafsson O, Valdimarsdottir UA. Increased Stress Among Women Following an Economic Collapse--A Prospective Cohort Study. American Journal of Epidemiology 2013.
- 109. Gudjonsdottir GR, Kristjansson M, Olafsson O, et al. Immediate surge in female visits to the cardiac emergency department following the economic collapse in Iceland: an observational study. Emergency Medicine Journal: EMJ 2012;29:694-8.
- 110. Statistics Iceland. Population 1 January 2008. Statistical Series 2008.
- 111. ID Numbers. Registers Iceland. (Accessed May 15, 2013 at http://www.skra.is/pages/1049.)

- 112. Þjónustuhandbók rannsóknarsviðs. In: Iceland. (Accessed May 20, 2013 at https://kaldur.landspitali.is/gaeda/gnhsykla.nsf/0/507BD47C46FF3EC6002577DE005C2BD7
- 113. Walberg P, McKee M, Shkolnikov V, Chenet L, Leon DA. Economic change, crime, and mortality crisis in Russia: regional analysis. BMJ 1998;317:312-8.
- 114. Kim H, Song YJ, Yi JJ, Chung WJ, Nam CM. Changes in mortality after the recent economic crisis in South Korea. Annals of Epidemiology 2004;14:442-6.
- 115. Gurfinkel EP, Bozovich GE, Dabbous O, Mautner B, Anderson F. Socio economic crisis and mortality. Epidemiological testimony of the financial collapse of Argentina. Thrombosis Journal 2005;3:22.
- 116. Ruhm CJ. A healthy economy can break your heart. Demography 2007;44:829-48.
- 117. Billing E, Hjemdahl P, Rehnqvist N. Psychosocial variables in female vs male patients with stable angina pectoris and matched healthy controls. European Heart Journal 1997;18:911-8.
- 118. Patel SM, Chokka RG, Prasad K, Prasad A. Distinctive clinical characteristics according to age and gender in apical ballooning syndrome (takotsubo/stress cardiomyopathy): an analysis focusing on men and young women. Journal of Cardiac Failure 2013;19:306-10.
- 119. Wittstein IS. Stress cardiomyopathy: a syndrome of catecholamine-mediated myocardial stunning? Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology 2012;32:847-57.